1	IN THE SUPREME COURT OF	THE STAT	ΓΕ OF NEVADA
2			
3	TOWER HOMES, LLC, a Nevada		
4	limited liability company;	ASE NO.:	65755 Electronically Filed
5	Appellant,		Feb 09 2015 10:35 a.m. Tracie K. Lindeman
6	vs.		Clerk of Supreme Court
7			
8	WILLIAM H. HEATON, individually; NITZ, WALTON & HEATON, LTD.,		
9	a domestic professional corporation;		
10	and DOES I through X, inclusive,		
11			
12	Respondents.		
13			
14			
15	APPELLANT TOWER HOMES	, LLC'S O	PENING BRIEF
16			
17			
18	PRINCE KEATING		
19 20	Cru Man Tran		
20	DENNIS M. PRINCE	-	
22	Nevada Bar No. 5092		
23	ERIC N. TRAN Nevada Bar No. 11876		
23	PRINCE KEATING		
24	9130 West Russell Road, Suite 200 Las Vegas, Nevada 89148		
26	Attorney for Appellant		
27			
28			
}			

i

1	
1	TABLE OF CONTENTS
2	I. JURISDICTIONAL STATEMENT1
3	II. STATEMETN OF THE ISSUE OF APPEAL1
4	
5	III.STATEMENT OF THE CASE1
6 7	IV. STATEMENT OF FACTS
8	A. Yanke Retains Defendants to Provide Legal Services Necessary to Form Tower Homes and Construct a Condominium Project
10	B. The Project Fails Due to Insufficient Funding Resulting in Loss of Earnest Money Deposits
11 12	C. The Underlying Litigation5
13	D. The Bankruptcy Proceeding and the Confirmation Order
14	
15	E. The First Marquis Aurbach Order7
16	F. The Present Legal Malpractice Action
17 18	G. Defendants' First Motion to Dismiss
10	H. The Second Marquis Aurbach Order Permitted Tower Homes to Pursue
20	This Action Against Defendants for The Benefit of The Tower Homes Purchasers
21	L. D. C. Jantel Denser 1 Matien to Dismiss
22	I. Defendants' Renewed Motion to Dismiss11
23	J. The District Court Grants Heaton and NWH' Motion for Summary Judgment
24	Judgment
25	V. SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT
26	VI. STANDARD OF REVIEW 15
27 28	VII. LEGAL ARGUMENT 15
20	

1	
1	A. TOWER HOMES IS THE PROPER PARTY TO THIS LITIGATION
2	BECAUSE TOWER HOMES IS THE ONLY PARTY WITH THE ATTORNEY CLIENT RELATIONSHIP WITH DEFENDANTS
3	
4	B. THE ASSIGNMENT OF THE PROCEEDS OF TOWER HOMES'
5	LEGAL MALPRACTICE ACTION AGAINST DEFENDANTS IS
6	PERMITTED UNDER NEVADA LAW AND DOES NOT AFFECT
7	TOWER HOMES' STANDING TO PURSUE THIS LEGAL MALPRACTICE ACTION AGAINST DEFENDANTS17
8	
9	1) Achrem v. Expressway Plaza Allows For Assignment of Proceeds In a Lawsuit to a Third Party
10	2) Other Jurisdictions Also Permit Assignment of Proceeds in a Legal
11	Malpractice Action to a Third Party
12	
13	3) The Tower Homes Purchasers, as a Creditors of the Bankruptcy Estate, Will Always Be the Beneficiaries Of Any Proceeds From
14	This Litigation
15	C. THE TRUSTEE HAS INHERENT POWERS TO PERMIT TOWER
16	HOMES TO PURSUE THIS LEGAL MALPRACTICE ACTION
17	AGAINST DEFENDANTS
18	1) The Trustee Had Inherent Powers Under Federal to Permit
19	Tower Homes (Debtor) to Pursue a Legal Malpractice Lawsuit on Behalf of Tower Homes Against Defendants 22
20	on Denan of Tower Homes Against Defendants 22
21	2) Even if The Assignment of Proceeds of Tower Homes' Legal
22	Malpractice Action to the Tower Homes Purchasers Violated Federal or State Law, Then the Proceeds Should Simply Revert
23	Back to the Bankruptcy Estate
24	D. THE HOLDING IN <i>CHAFFEE V. SMITH</i> IS NARROW AND DOES
25	NOT PROHIBIT TOWER HOMES FROM BRINGING FORTH THIS
26	LEGAL MALPRACTICE ACTION AGAINST DEFENDANTS
27	
28	E. THIS COURT SHOULD NOT ADOPT A PER SE BAR ON ALL ASSIGNMENT OF LEGAL MALPRACTICE CLAIMS

1 2	VIII. CONCLUSION 34
3	CERTIFICATE OF COMPLIANCE
4	
5	NRAP 26.1 DISCLOSURE
6	CERTIFICATE OF SERVICE
7	
8	
9	
10	
11	
12	
13	
14	
15	
16	
17	
18	
19 20	
20	
22	
23	
24	
25	
26	
27	
28	

1	TABLE OF AUTHORITIES
2	$A_{1} = \sum_{i=1}^{n} \sum_{j=1}^{n} \sum_{i=1}^{n} \sum_{i=1}^$
3	Achrem v. Expressway Plaza Ltd. Partnership, 112 Nev. 738, 917 P.2d 447 (1996).
4	Appletree Square I Limited Partnership v. O'Connor & Hannan, 575 N.W.2d 102
5	(Minn.1998)
6 7	Arguello v. Sunset Station, Inc., 252 P.3d 206, 208 (Nev. 2011)
8	Auckenthaler v. Grundmeyer, 110 Nev. 682, 684, 877 P.2d 1039, 1040 (1994) 15
9	Baum v. Duckor, Spradling & Metzger, 72 Cal.App.4th 54, 69, 84 Cal.Rptr.2d 703.
10	22
11	Bernstein v. Allstate Ins. Co., 56 Misc.2d 341, 288 N.Y.S.2d 646, 648-49 (New
12	York 1968) 18
13	Butler v. Bogdanovich, 101 Nev. 449, 451, 705 P.2d 662, 663 (1985)15
14	Denote the Dec Co. 70 Aria 252 2(2, 29(\mathbb{D} 2) 7(1, 7(((7 (1055))))) 27
15	Bryan v. Southern Pac. Co. 79 Ariz. 253, 262, 286 P.2d 761, 766-67 (1955) 27
16	<u>Chaffee v. Smith</u> , 98 Nev. 222, 224, 645 P.2d 966, 966 (1982) 14, 27, 28, 29,30
17	Cerberus Partners, L.P. v. Gadsby & Hannah, 728 A.2d 1057, 1059-61 (R.I.1999)
18	
19	Day v. Zubel, 112 Nev. 972, 976, 922 P.2d 536, 538 (1996)
20	
21	Gallegos v. Malco Enterprises of Nevada, Inc., 255 P.3d 1287, 1288 (Nev. 2011)
22	
23	<u>Goodley v. Wank & Wank, Inc.</u> , 62 Cal.App.3d 389, 395-96, 133 Cal.Rptr. 83 (1976)
24	
25	Hedlund Mfg. Co. v. Weiser, Stapler & Spivak, 517 Pa. 522, 525-26, 539 A.2d 357
26	(1988)
27	In re Duty, 78 B.R. 111, 114–16 (Bankr.E.D.Va.1987)
28	<u>In re Musser</u> , 24 B.R. 913, 920–21 (W.D.Va.1982))

1	
1	Jackson Nat. Life Ins. v. Greycliff Partners Ltd., 960 F.Supp. 186 (E.D.Wis.1997).
2	
3	Kommavongsa v. Haskell, 149 Wash.2d 288, 291, 67 P.3d 1068 (2003) 32
4	Neilson Rlty. Corp. v. Motor Vehicle Acc. Indem. Corp., 47 Misc.2d 260, 262
5	N.Y.S.2d 652, 657–58 (App.Div.1965)
6	New Hennehing Ing. Co. or McConn. 420 Mars. 202, 200, 12, 707 ME 21222 (1000)
7	<u>New Hampshire Ins. Co. v. McCann</u> , 429 Mass. 202, 209-12, 707 N.E.2d 332 (1999)
8	
9	<u>Oehler v. Humana, Inc.</u> , 105 Nev. 348, 350, 775 P.2d 1271, 1272 (1989) 15
10	Office of Statewide Health Planning and Development v. Musick, Peeler &
11	<u>Garrett</u> , 76 Cal.App.4th 830, 834, 90 Cal.Rptr.2d 705, 708 (Cal.App. 2 Dist. 1999)
12	
	Office of Statewide Health Planning and Development, 76 Cal.App.4th at 834, 90
13	Cal.Rptr.2d at 708
14	$\mathbf{P}_{i} = \mathbf{P}_{i} + \mathbf{P}_{i} = \mathbf{P}_{i} + \mathbf{P}_{i} + \mathbf{P}_{i} = \mathbf{P}_{i} + \mathbf{P}_{i} $
15	<u>Richter v. Analex Corp.</u> , 940 F.Supp. 353, 356-58 (D.D.C. 1996) 31
16	Suter v. Goedert, 396 B.R. 535, 541 (D.Nev. 2008) 22
17	Szilagyi v. Testa, 99 Nev. 834, 838, 673 P.2d 495, 498 (1983)
18	$\frac{5211agy1V. 10sta}{1000}, 99100V. 054, 050, 0751.20495, 490 (1905)15$
19	<u>Thurston v. Continental Casualty Co.</u> , 567 A.2d 922, 923 (Me.1989)
20	<u>Todd v. State</u> , 113 Nev. 18, 24, 931 P.2d 721, 725 (1997) 16
21	
22	Weston v. Dowty, 163 Mich. App. 238, 414 N.W.2d 165, 167 (1987) 19, 21, 27
23	
	White Mountains Reinsurance Company of America v. Borton Petrini, LLP, 221
24	Cal.App.4th 890, 892, 164 Cal.Rptr.3d 912, 913 (Cal.App. 3 Dist.2013)30
25	NRCP 17(a)
26	NRCP 56(c)
27	11 U.S.C. § 541
28	$110.5.0. \ y \ 1125(0)(5) \ \dots \ 25, 20$
I	

ł	
1	I. JURISDICTIONAL STATEMENT
2	This Court has jurisdiction over this appeal pursuant to NRAP 3A(b)(1) because
3 4	the District Court issued a final Order Granting Defendant William Heaton ("Heaton"),
5	and the law firm of Nitz, Walton & Heaton, Ltd.'s ("NWH") (collectively referred to
6	
7	as "Defendants") Motion for Summary judgment which was entered on May 15, 2014.
8	6 AA 916. Appellant filed their Notice of Appeal on May 28, 2014. 6 AA 925. Thus,
. 9	this appeal is timely and this Court has jurisdiction to hear this matter on appeal.
10	II. <u>STATEMENT OF THE ISSUE</u>
11 12	The issue presented on this appeal is as follows:
13	
14	Whether Tower Homes is the real party in interest with standing to bring this legal malpractice action against Defendants.
4 -	
15	III. STATEMENT OF THE CASE ¹
15 16	
	This appeal arises out of a legal malpractice action. Defendant William Heaton
16 17 18	
16 17 18 19	This appeal arises out of a legal malpractice action. Defendant William Heaton
16 17 18 19 20	This appeal arises out of a legal malpractice action. Defendant William Heaton ("Heaton"), and the law firm of Nitz, Walton & Heaton, Ltd. ("NWH") (collectively
16 17 18 19 20 21	This appeal arises out of a legal malpractice action. Defendant William Heaton ("Heaton"), and the law firm of Nitz, Walton & Heaton, Ltd. ("NWH") (collectively referred to as "Defendant") failed to properly provide legal services to their clients
16 17 18 19 20 21 22	This appeal arises out of a legal malpractice action. Defendant William Heaton ("Heaton"), and the law firm of Nitz, Walton & Heaton, Ltd. ("NWH") (collectively referred to as "Defendant") failed to properly provide legal services to their clients 1 In this case, Defendants refused to produce documents as part of their initial NRCP 16.1 disclosures. This forced Tower Homes to file a Motion to Compel Production of
16 17 18 19 20 21 22 23	This appeal arises out of a legal malpractice action. Defendant William Heaton ("Heaton"), and the law firm of Nitz, Walton & Heaton, Ltd. ("NWH") (collectively referred to as "Defendant") failed to properly provide legal services to their clients
16 17 18 19 20 21 22 23 24	This appeal arises out of a legal malpractice action. Defendant William Heaton ("Heaton"), and the law firm of Nitz, Walton & Heaton, Ltd. ("NWH") (collectively referred to as "Defendant") failed to properly provide legal services to their clients I In this case, Defendants refused to produce documents as part of their initial NRCP 16.1 disclosures. This forced Tower Homes to file a Motion to Compel Production of Documents before the Discovery Commissioner. 6 <i>AA 901:10-14</i> . On March 19, 2014, the Discovery Commissioner issued a Reports and Recommendation ordering Defendants to produce the entire pre-transaction and transaction file pertaining to
16 17 18 19 20 21 22 23 24 25	This appeal arises out of a legal malpractice action. Defendant William Heaton ("Heaton"), and the law firm of Nitz, Walton & Heaton, Ltd. ("NWH") (collectively referred to as "Defendant") failed to properly provide legal services to their clients I In this case, Defendants refused to produce documents as part of their initial NRCP 16.1 disclosures. This forced Tower Homes to file a Motion to Compel Production of Documents before the Discovery Commissioner. 6 <i>AA</i> 901:10-14. On March 19, 2014, the Discovery Commissioner issued a Reports and Recommendation ordering Defendants to produce the entire pre-transaction and transaction file pertaining to Defendants' representation of Tower Homes including all documents, papers, agreement, contract, correspondences, and memoranda. 6 <i>AA</i> 900. However, on
16 17 18 19 20 21 22 23 24	This appeal arises out of a legal malpractice action. Defendant William Heaton ("Heaton"), and the law firm of Nitz, Walton & Heaton, Ltd. ("NWH") (collectively referred to as "Defendant") failed to properly provide legal services to their clients 1 In this case, Defendants refused to produce documents as part of their initial NRCP 16.1 disclosures. This forced Tower Homes to file a Motion to Compel Production of Documents before the Discovery Commissioner. 6 <i>AA</i> 901:10-14. On March 19, 2014, the Discovery Commissioner issued a Reports and Recommendation ordering Defendants to produce the entire pre-transaction and transaction file pertaining to Defendants' representation of Tower Homes including all documents, papers, agreement, contract, correspondences, and memoranda. 6 <i>AA</i> 900. However, on March 25, 2014, the District Court granted Defendants' Motion for Summary
16 17 18 19 20 21 22 23 24 25 26	This appeal arises out of a legal malpractice action. Defendant William Heaton ("Heaton"), and the law firm of Nitz, Walton & Heaton, Ltd. ("NWH") (collectively referred to as "Defendant") failed to properly provide legal services to their clients I In this case, Defendants refused to produce documents as part of their initial NRCP 16.1 disclosures. This forced Tower Homes to file a Motion to Compel Production of Documents before the Discovery Commissioner. 6 <i>AA</i> 901:10-14. On March 19, 2014, the Discovery Commissioner issued a Reports and Recommendation ordering Defendants to produce the entire pre-transaction and transaction file pertaining to Defendants' representation of Tower Homes including all documents, papers, agreement, contract, correspondences, and memoranda. 6 <i>AA</i> 900. However, on

Rodney C. Yanke (hereinafter "Yanke") and Tower Homes, LLC ("Tower Homes") in 1 2 the drafting of Purchase Contracts for the sale of condominium units in compliance 3 with Nevada law. 2 AA 224. Defendants also failed to proper advise Yanke and Tower 4 5 Homes pursuant to NRS 116.411 regarding their (Yanke and Towers Homes) duty to 6 safeguard earnest money deposits. 1 AA 4: 8-18. Tower Homes marketed the sale of 7 the condominium units to numerous individual investors ("Tower Homes Purchaser"). 8 9 2 AA 291:21-26. The Tower Homes Purchasers deposited earnest money deposit pre-10 construction in order to reserve their purchase of the individual condominium units. Id. 11 However, the condominium units were never completed and the Tower Homes 12 13 Purchasers lost their earnest money deposits as a result of Yanke and Tower Homes' 14 failure to preserve the funds as required under Nevada law. 2 AA 292:9-11. 15 16 On June 12, 2012, Tower Homes filed a Complaint naming Heaton and NWH as 17 defendants asserting (1) negligence; and (2) breach of fiduciary duties. 1 AA 2. On 18 February 18, 2014, Defendants Heaton and NWH filed their Motion for Summary 19 20 Judgment. 5 AA 716. Defendants argued that because the Tower Homes Purchasers 21 will ultimately benefit from any recovery in this legal malpractice action, the Tower 22 Homes Purchasers are the real parties in interest. 5 AA 718:15-22. Defendants also 23 24 argued that even if the Tower Homes Purchasers were actually the named plaintiffs in 25 this action, under Nevada law, this would constitute an impermissible assignment of a 26 legal malpractice action. Id. 27

PRINCE | KEATING ATTORNEYS 9130 W. RUSSELL RD. SUITE 200 LAS VEGAS, NEVADA 89148 PHONE: (702) 228-5800

28

On March 7, 2014, Plaintiff Tower Homes, LLC filed its Opposition to

1	Defendants' Motion for Summary Judgment. 6 AA 847. Tower Homes argued that it is
2	indeed the proper plaintiff to this lawsuit because Tower Homes is the only party that
3 4	had an attorney client relationship with Defendants. 6 AA 848:27-849:6. In addition,
5	under Defendants' theory, if neither Tower Homes nor the Tower Homes Purchasers
6	can be named as plaintiffs in this lawsuit, then essentially no one can be named as a
7	can be named as plaintings in this lawsuit, then essentially no one can be named as a
8	plaintiff in this legal malpractice lawsuit. Id. Defendants filed their Reply on March 14,
9	2014. <i>6 AA 869</i> .
10	On May 15, 2014, the District Court Granting Defendants' Motion for Summary
11	
12	Judgment concluding that Tower Homes was not the real party in interest. 6 AA 909.
13	Notice of Entry of Order Granting Defendants' Motion for Summary Judgment was
14 15	entered on May 15, 2014. 6 AA 916. On May 28, 2014, Plaintiff filed its Notice of
16	Appeal. 6 AA 925.
17	IV. <u>STATEMENT OF FACTS</u>
18	STATEMENT OF TACTS
19	A. Yanke Retains Defendants to Provide Legal Services Necessary to Form Tower Homes and Construct a Condominium Project.
20	
21	Yanke is a licensed contractor in the State of Nevada who invested and
22	developed real property in and around Clark County, Nevada. 1 AA 3:19-22. On or
23	about April 3, 2004, Yanke retained Heaton and NWH to provide legal services and
24	assist with the formation of Towar Homes, LLC ("Towar Homes") 1 11 2.22 27
25	assist with the formation of Tower Homes, LLC ("Tower Homes"). 1 AA 3:23-27.
26	Yanke was the managing member of Tower Homes. 1 AA 3:28-4. At that time, Yanke
27 28	informed Heaton and NWH of his intent to construct a residential common interest

ownership project known as Spanish View Towers Project (hereinafter referred to as the "Project"). Id. Yanke, in his capacity as the manager of Tower Homes, informed Heaton and NWH that the Project was to consist of three (3) 18-story condominium towers combining for a total of 405 units located generally at the southwest corner of Interstate 215 and South Buffalo Drive in Las Vegas, Nevada. Id. Tower Homes marketed the individual units of a condominium project for sale to members of the public. *2 AA 258:1-7*.

In addition to other legal services, Yanke requested that Heaton and NWH draft Purchase Contracts for the sale of the individual condominium units. *1 AA 4:7-17*. Prior to and during the initial phases of construction, Tower marketed the individual units for sale to members of the public. <u>Id</u>. Heaton and NWH were obligated to properly advise Tower Homes of all applicable legal requirements concerning the sale of the individual units, including the applicability of Chapter 116 of the Nevada Revised Statutes concerning the safeguarding of earnest money deposit. Id.

B. The Project Fails Due to Insufficient Funding Resulting in Loss of Earnest Money Deposits.

Tower Homes then entered into written Purchase Contracts with numerous individual investors (collectively referred to as the "Tower Homes Purchasers") prior to the completion of construction. *2 AA 258:1-6*; *2 AA 259:14-16*. Each purchaser was to give Tower Homes a significant earnest money deposit in order to reserve their purchase of the individual condominium unit pending completion of construction. *2*

PRINCE KEATING ATTORNEYS 9130 W. RUSSELL RD. SUITE 200 AS VEGAS, NEVADA 89148 PHONE: (702) 228-6800

AA 260. However, there were insufficient financing available for the Project's completion and thus, the Project failed. *2 AA 260:18-20.* As a result of the Project's failure, many of the Tower Homes Purchasers lost millions of dollars of their money deposits. *2 AA 261:2-7; 2 AA 332:19-21.* As a result of the Project's failure, there were over \$28,000,000.00 in mechanic's lien filed for the work on the Project. *2 AA 332:19-21.* 21.

9

C. The Underlying Litigation

As a result of Heaton and NWH's failure to satisfy their legal obligations and duties to Tower Homes and Yanke, on or about May 23, 2007, certain Tower Homes Purchasers filed a Complaint in the Eighth Judicial District Court, in <u>Gaynor, et. al v.</u> <u>Tower Homes, LLC, et al.</u>, Case No. A541668 against Tower Homes, Yanke, and other Defendants seeking the return of their earnest money deposits. *2 AA 256*.

D. The Bankruptcy Proceeding and the Confirmation Order

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