1	IN THE SUPREME COURT	OF THE STATE OF NEVADA
2 3	TOWER HOMES, LLC, A Nevada Limited Liability Company,	Supreme Court No. 65755 Electronically Filed
4	Appellent	Mar 18 2015 01:11 p.m.
5	Appellant,	Tracie K. Lindeman Clerk of Supreme Court
6	VS.	
7	WILLIAM H. HEATON, individually;	
8	NITZ WALTON & HEATON, LTD., a domestic professional corporation,	
9	Respondents,	
10		
11		
12		
13		
14	RESPONDENTS' A	NSWERING BRIEF
15		
16		
17		
18	V. Andrew Cass Nevada Bar No. 005246	
19	Jeffrey D. Olster	
20	Nevada Bar No. 008864 Lewis Brisbois Bisgaard & Smith LLP	
21	6385 S. Rainbow Boulevard, Suite 600	
22	Las Vegas, Nevada 89118	
23	Tel. 702.893.3383 Fax 702.893.3789	
24	Attorneys for Respondents

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

As they did with the district court, Appellants – the Tower Homes Purchasers -- ask this Court to adhere to the fiction that they are somehow not pursuing an assigned legal malpractice claim. Instead, Appellants maintain that, because Tower Homes is the named plaintiff, and because the word "assign" does not appear in the bankruptcy documents, there is no assignment issue. For numerous reasons, and as the district court agreed, this spurious fiction should be rejected.

First and foremost, Appellants admit in their Complaint that they are 1 2 *pursuing an assigned claim.* Specifically, they allege: "During the bankruptcy 3 proceeding, the Trustee, the law firm of Marquis Aurbach Coffing as well as the 4 Tower Purchasers entered into a stipulation to release and assign certain claims of 5 [Tower Homes] and allow Marquis Aurbach Coffing as counsel for the Tower Homes Purchasers to pursue claims on behalf of [Tower Homes]." 6 (AA6:5-9 [emphasis added].). Appellants are bound by this judicial admission. 7 See, e.g., Scalf v. D.B. Log Homes, 128 Cal.App.4th 1510, 1522, 27 Cal.Rptr.3d 826, 833 (Cal. 8 App. 2005) (concessions in pleadings are incontrovertible judicial admissions); 9 10 Reyburn Lawn & Landscape Designers v. Plaster Dev. Co., 255 P.3d 268, 277, 127 Nev. Adv. Rep. 26 (2011) (citing Scalf, supra, for proposition that concessions in 11 pleadings are judicial admissions); see also American Title Ins. Co. v. Lacelaw 12 Corp., 861 F.2d 224, 226 (9th Cir. 1988) (explaining that admissions in pleadings are 13 14 generally binding on the parties, the trial court and on appeal).

15 Even if this dispositive judicial admission is overlooked, it is still clear under 16 Nevada law that the Trustee assigned Tower Homes' legal malpractice claim to the 17 Purchasers. "In the absence of statute or a contract provision to the contrary, there 18 are no prescribed formalities that must be observed to make an effective 19 assignment." Easton Business Opportunities v. Town Executive Suites, 230 P.3d 827, 832, 126 Nev. Adv. Rep. 13 (2010). The assignor must manifest a present 20 21 intention to transfer its contract right to the assignee. Id. (emphasis added). "It is 22 essential to an assignment of a right that the obligee manifest an intention to transfer 23 the right to another person without further action or manifestation of intention by the 24 obligee." Id.; see also Gasser v. Jet Craft Ltd., 87 Nev. 376, 382, 487 P.2d 346 (1971) ("An 'assignment' has been defined as: 'A transfer or making over to another 25 26 of the whole of any property, real or personal, in possession or in action, or of any 27 estate or right therein.")

Based on these standards, the net effect of the Marquis Aurbach Orders and 1 2 underlying stipulations cannot reasonably be characterized as anything other than an 3 assignment. Pursuant to the Original Marquis Aurbach Order, the Trustee stipulated 4 "to <u>release</u> to the Tower Homes Purchasers any and all claims." (AA585:13-19, 5 832:13-19 [emphasis added].) This same "release to" language is contained the 6 Amended Stipulation underlying the Second Marquis Aurbach Order. (AA898:13-7 19.) The Second Marquis Aurbach Order itself then "authorizes the Trustee to permit the Tower Homes Purchasers to pursue any and all claims on behalf of 8 9 Tower Homes, LLC." (AA840:7-20 [emphasis added].) These claims are to be 10 pursued by counsel "retained on behalf of Tower Homes Purchasers," and any recovery in the action "shall be for the benefit of the Tower Homes Purchasers." 11 12 (Id. [emphasis added].) All of these documents manifest a present intent by the 13 Trustee to immediately and fully transfer Tower Homes' right to sue NWH to the Purchasers. No further action, obligation or involvement is required by Tower 14 15 Homes under the orders and stipulations (nor is any such action, obligation or 16 involvement permitted).

Accordingly, the transfer of the right to sue from Tower Homes to the Tower
Homes Purchasers was an assignment as a matter of law. Appellants admit as much
in their Complaint. Moreover, as the district court correctly recognized, the use of
the phrase "release to" instead of "assign" is a "distinction without a difference."
(AA908, 914:16-21.) In other words, substance controls over form, and parties
cannot somehow avoid the rule prohibiting assignments by using synonyms or
semantic gamesmanship.

24

25

3. <u>Bankruptcy courts cannot circumvent state law prohibitions</u> against the assignment of legal malpractice claims.

26 The critical wrinkle in this case, of course, is that Second Marquis Aurbach
27 Order, which was approved by the Trustee and bankruptcy court, purports to assign
28 Tower Homes' theoretical legal malpractice claim against NWH to the Tower

Homes Purchasers. Though no court in Nevada has confronted this precise situation 1 2 (at least not in any published opinion), courts in other jurisdictions have consistently 3 rejected attempts by bankruptcy trustees and creditors to collusively avoid the well-4 established prohibition of the assignment of legal malpractice claims, even when the 5 assignment, transfer or "release" of the claim is done with the purported approval of 6 a federal bankruptcy court. See, e.g., Baum v. Duckor, Spradling & Metzger, 72 7 Cal. App. 4th 54, 84 Cal.Rptr.2d 703 (Cal. App. 1999); Curtis v. Kellogg & Andelson, 73 Cal. App. 4th 492, 86 Cal. Rptr.2d 536 (Cal. App. 1999); see also In re 8 9 J.E. Marion, 199 B.R. 635, 638 (S.D. Tex. 1996) (explaining that policy 10 considerations underlying the rule prohibiting assignment of legal malpractice claims "must be extrapolated into the federal bankruptcy context when determining 11 12 the prudence of assigning legal malpractice claims."). As the district court correctly 13 recognized, these cases squarely demonstrate that NWH is entitled to judgment as a matter of law. (It is therefore not surprising that Appellants virtually ignore these 14 15 cases in their Opening Brief).

16 In *Baum*, supra, a creditor of two bankrupt corporations sought to bring a 17 malpractice claim against the corporations' attorneys. The creditor had acquired the 18 legal malpractice cause of action from the bankruptcy trustee, and the bankruptcy 19 court had approved the purported assignment. The California Court of Appeal phrased and answered the issue to be decided as follows: "The principal issue of 20 21 law we must decide is thus whether a legal malpractice claim belonging to the 22 bankruptcy estate of a corporation may be assigned by the trustee of that estate to a 23 creditor of the corporation for prosecution in state court. We conclude such a chose 24 in action is not assignable as a matter of California law and public policy." Baum, 25 84 Cal.Rptr.2d at 708 (emphasis added).

26 Similarly, in *Curtis, supra*, an individual who had purchased the assets of a
27 corporation that was in bankruptcy (including the corporation's "causes of action")
28 brought a legal malpractice claim against the corporation's attorneys. The

bankruptcy court had entered an order purporting to authorize the individual to bring
the professional malpractice claim in the name of the debtor. *See Curtis, supra*, 86
Cal.Rptr.2d at 540. The claims were ultimately brought using the names of both the
individual and the corporation. Recognizing the well-established rule that legal
malpractice claims are not assignable, the court held that neither the individual nor
the debtor corporation had standing to sue the defendant law firm. *Id.* at 544-45.

Just as in *Baum*, the court in *Curtis* rejected the argument that the bankruptcy
court purporting to authorize the action somehow avoided the unlawful assignment
of the legal malpractice lawsuit, reasoning as follows: "The trustee was apparently
attempting to give [the individual] permission to proceed against [the law firm] *in the name of the [client/debtor]*. The difficulty here is *we are aware of no Bankruptcy Code provision--and appellants cite us to none--that would permit the trustee to proceed in this fashion*." *Id.* at 546 (emphasis added).

Thus, in sum, these cases – *Baum*, *Curtis* and *J.E. Marion* – all stand for the
squarely applicable proposition that a bankruptcy court simply cannot assign,
'release to' or somehow give a creditor of a bankruptcy estate the right to bring a
state law legal malpractice claim against a debtor's attorneys when doing so would
violate a state law prohibition against the assignment of legal malpractice claims. In
this situation, the state law prohibition against the assignment of such claims
controls.

21 The United States District Court sitting in Nevada, while not confronting the 22 precise situation presented here, has issued guidance consistent with *Baum* and 23 *Curtis. See In re Agribiotech*, 319 B.R. 207 (D. Nev. 2004) ("Agribiotech I") and *In* 24 re Agribiotech, 319 B.R. 216 (D. Nev. 2004) ("Agribiotech II"), both of which arise 25 out the same bankruptcy proceedings. In the Agribiotech cases, the applicable 26 bankruptcy plan established a creditors' trust and established a trustee of the creditors' trust to bring actions on behalf of the estate. In Agribiotech I, the 27 28 bankruptcy trustee, acting pursuant to the authority and on behalf of the creditors'

trust during ongoing bankruptcy proceedings, brought fraud claims against former
officers and directors of the debtor. One of the defendant officers argued that the
trustee lacked standing because fraud claims are not assignable. In *Agribiotech II*,
the trustee, also acting for the creditors' trust, sued the debtor's accountants for
malpractice. The accountants argued that the trustee lacked standing to sue.

6 The federal court in both *Agribiotech* case permitted both actions for the
7 following reasons:

• The claims at issue were assigned to and *brought by the bankruptcy trustee* on behalf of an established creditors' trust. (*Agribiotech I*, 319 B.R. at 214)

• The claims at issue were the property of the debtor's bankruptcy estate – "[The assignment of claims] cannot serve merely as a vehicle to allow the trustee to prosecute claims on behalf of a creditor." (*Id.*; *Agribiotech II, supra*, 319 B.R. at 221-22).

- The proceeds recovered in the actions would become property of the bankruptcy estate, to be distributed to the debtor's creditors "pro rata as set forth in the distribution priorities in the [bankruptcy] Plan." (*Id.*) In other words, the claims were brought for the benefit of the bankruptcy estate.
 - "The [bankruptcy] estate thus is the real party in interest because it will receive the full benefit of any recovery." (*Id*.)

All of this starkly contrasts with and does not apply to the instant action.
Here, the action is not brought by a bankruptcy trustee acting on behalf of a
creditors' trust.¹⁷ In fact, there is no creditors' trust, and the Trustee, on behalf of
the Tower Homes bankruptcy estate, has expressly disclaimed any interest in this
action (or any action relating to the loss of the Tower Homes Purchasers' earnest

¹⁷ As noted above, the Bankruptcy Plan only named the Trustee as the designated representative under 11 U.S.C. §1123(b)(3).

money deposits). (AA584:26 – 585:5.) Instead, the named plaintiff in this case is a
limited liability shell that exists solely as a vehicle to attempt to recover monies for
the exclusive benefit of the Tower Homes Purchasers – not Tower Homes, LLC, not
the Tower Homes bankruptcy estate and not the bankruptcy creditors as a whole.
Stated simply, under *Agribiotech*, this type of action is permissible if, and only if,
the bankruptcy estate is the real party in interest.

7 The Agribiotech actions were also notably brought by the trustee while the bankruptcy proceedings were ongoing. This is important because, again, federal 8 9 law authorizes trustees to pursue actions on behalf of the estate to further the 10 trustee's duties to amass, distribute and/or liquidate the debtor's assets to facilitate an orderly and equitable administration and distribution of the bankruptcy estate. 11 12 Here, the Tower Homes bankruptcy estate has now been fully administered, and all 13 funds required to be disbursed under the applicable Plan have been disbursed. 14 (AA884:10-17.) In other words, unlike every other case in which a trustee (or a 15 creditors' committee) has been permitted to pursue a legal malpractice claim on 16 behalf of a debtor's bankruptcy estate, no bankruptcy purpose is served by the 17 *instant action* because there is no longer any bankruptcy estate to be administered.

18 Appellants *ignore* all of these critical principles in their Opening Brief.
19 Instead, as detailed below, Appellants raise a series of new arguments, none of
20 which provide any support for the viability of the instant action.

C. <u>Most of the Purchasers' contentions on appeal are new, and, in any</u> <u>event, are misplaced fictions that are contrary to the bankruptcy</u> <u>documents purporting to authorize this action.</u>

In both the proceedings below and in this appeal, Appellants *fail to cite a single case*, from any jurisdiction, that somehow permits or authorizes strangers to
an attorney-client relationship to use the limited liability shell of a bankrupt "client"
to sue the client's attorneys for legal malpractice and retain the proceeds for their
own benefit (and, at the same time, they ignore the cases that have expressly

21

22

disallowed this practice). Instead, the Purchasers rely largely on the fiction that, 1 2 because "Tower Homes, LLC" is the name used to denominate the plaintiff, this action is really not an unlawfully assigned legal malpractice claim, even though the 3 4 Trustee has given the right to sue exclusively to the Purchasers, through the 5 Purchasers' own attorneys, with the hypothetical proceeds to go solely to the 6 Purchasers. As detailed above, this fiction is completely belied by the language of 7 both Marquis Aurbach Orders, the stipulations underlying these orders, case law and 8 common sense.

9 Recognizing their predicament, the Purchasers assert a litany of new 10 arguments in their Opening Brief (which will be addressed below) that they did not 11 raise during the district court proceedings. This is impermissible, as this Court has 12 repeatedly explained that parties may not assert new arguments or theories on 13 appeal. See, e.g., Schuck v. Signature Flight Support of Nevada, 245 P.3d 542, 544, 14 126 Nev. Adv. Rep. 42 (2010) (even on an appeal from an order granting summary 15 judgment, where a *de novo* review standard applies, points may not be raised for the 16 first time on appeal); *Dermody v. City of Reno*, 113 Nev. 207, 931 P.2d 1354 (1997); 17 Powers v. Powers, 105 Nev. 514, 516, 779 P.2d 91 (1989); Montesano v. Donrey 18 Media Group, 99 Nev. 644, 650 n. 5, 668 P.2d 1081 (1983). This well-established rule "maintains the efficiency, fairness, and integrity of the judicial system for all 19 20 parties." Schuck, supra, 245 P.3d at 544.

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